NO. 43855-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRYAN DUNN,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable Barbara Johnson, Judge

AMENDED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JENNIFER M. WINKLER
Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC
1908 E Madison Street
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The information was defective because it omitted essential elements of the crime of unlawful imprisonment.

2. The jury instruction informing jurors they could find each element of unlawful imprisonment if the accused acted “intentionally” misstated the law and requires reversal of all four convictions.

3. The prosecutor committed flagrant, prosecutorial misconduct in closing argument that denied the appellant a fair trial.

4. The trial court violated the appellant’s right to present a defense by excluding evidence crucial the appellant’s defense and to rebutting the State’s theory of the case.

5. The trial court violated appellant’s constitutional right to a public trial by taking peremptory challenges in a proceeding closed from public view.

6. The trial court violated the appellant’s constitutional right to be present at all critical stages of trial.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. To convict an accused of unlawful imprisonment, the State must prove an accused knowingly (1) restricted another's movements; (2) did so without that person's consent; by physical force, intimidation, or deception; or by acquiescence if the person was under 16 and her parent

did not acquiesce; (3) did so without legal authority; and (4) did so in a manner that substantially interfered with that person's liberty. Where the information failed to allege the essential elements of unlawful imprisonment, should the appellant's three unlawful imprisonment convictions be reversed?

2. Where the jury instruction defining "knowingly" and "with knowledge" erroneously informed jurors they could also find each element of unlawful imprisonment was established if the accused acted "intentionally," should this Court reverse the appellant's convictions for unlawful imprisonment?

3. Where residential burglary requires "intent to commit a crime" and the jury was misinformed as to the elements of unlawful imprisonment, should the appellant's residential burglary conviction also be reversed?

4. Did the prosecutor commit flagrant, prejudicial misconduct in closing argument, denying the appellant a fair trial?

5. Did the trial court err in excluding cell phone video crucial to the defense and vital to rebutting the State's theory of the case?

6. During jury selection, the parties made peremptory challenges by passing a chart back and forth at the clerk's station.

Because the trial court did not analyze the Bone-Club¹ factors before conducting this important portion of jury selection privately, did the court violate appellant's constitutional right to a public trial?

7. Did the appellant's absence from exercise of peremptory challenges violate his constitutional right to be present at all critical stages of trial?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE²

1. Procedural facts

The State charged Bryan Dunn with first degree burglary and three counts of unlawful imprisonment based on an incident occurring May 13, 2012. CP 1-2. The State amended the first charge to residential burglary after the court found insufficient evidence to support the first degree charge. CP 11-12; 3RP 89-105. The complainants as to the unlawful imprisonment charge were sisters A.P. and J.P. and family friend M.C., who were between 11 and 14 years old at the time of the incident. CP 11-12.

¹ State v. Bone-Club, 128 Wn.2d 254, 906 P.2d 629 (1995).

² This brief refers to the verbatim report of proceedings as follows: 1RP – 8/13/12; 2RP – 8/14/12; 3RP – 8/15/12; 4RP – 8/16 and 8/22/12; and Supp. RP – 8/13/12 (jury selection).

Following trial, a jury convicted Dunn of all four charges, and the court sentenced him to concurrent standard range terms of incarceration. CP 40-44, 50-59.

2. Trial testimony and Dunn's statement³

A.P. was 11 years old in May of 2012. 1RP 53-54. The morning of May 13, A.P. woke up while sister J.P., 14 years old, and friend M.C., 13 years old, were still sleeping. 1RP 56-57; 2RP 11, 106. The girls planned to go swimming that day with some friends. 1RP 57; 2RP 95. The sisters' mother, Anita, was at work. 1RP 66.

The girls heard voices and then a knock at the door. J.P. told A.P. to open the door because J.P. thought it was the apartment complex's maintenance man. 1RP 59; 2RP 18, 25, 112 A Hispanic man, referred to at trial as "Luciano," and two non-Hispanic "white" men were at the door. 1RP 60. One of the white men was tall and thin; the other was shorter and heavier and had a ponytail. 1RP 60-61; 2RP 110-11. Two of the girls later identified Dunn as the man with the ponytail. 1RP 73-74; 2RP 23-24, 58; 3RP 21-26.

³ Facts related to appellant's claims of prosecutorial misconduct, the exclusion of evidence, and the violations of the right to public trial and the right to be present at all critical stages of prosecution are outlined in the argument section below.

Luciano, who A.P. recognized slightly, told A.P. he was her mother's "manager."⁴ 1RP 60. Unsure what to do, A.P. closed the door and told J.P. the men at the door were looking for Anita. 1RP 61-62; 2RP 27.

When the girls emerged from the bedroom, the men were already inside and sitting on the couches. 1RP 64. When J.P. asked why the men were in her house, the men laughed. 1RP 65; 2RP 27-29. One of the men said he wanted to talk to J.P.'s mom. 2RP 28. According to M.C., Luciano was doing most of the talking. 2RP 209-10.

Luciano directed Dunn to call Anita and told him to say her daughters "need[ed] water." 2RP 113-14. Dunn was laughing as he left a message.⁵ 2RP 29. J.P. was surprised Luciano had Anita's phone number and knew other details about the family. 2RP 65.

When J.P. told the men to leave the house, they laughed. 2RP 31-32, 65. Luciano said the other men were his bodyguards, and Dunn and the other man agreed. 2RP 32. J.P. felt threatened by the statements about bodyguards. 2RP 33.

⁴ At some point, A.P. and J.P. realized they recognized Luciano because he had come to their apartment to fix their dryer. 1RP 96; 2RP 15, 57.

⁵ J.P. believed Dunn left her mother a voicemail because she could hear her mother's voice on the recorded message. 2RP 30.

The men eventually told the girls to get ready to leave, and the girls went to the bedroom to change. 1RP 66; 2RP 122-23. Luciano told the girls to “hurry” and unsuccessfully tried to open the bedroom door while they were changing. 2RP 35-36, 117-18, 231.

The girls got in the car with the men because they were scared that something bad would happen if they didn’t. 1RP 67; 2RP 34. M.C. acknowledged stating in an interview that she was scared of Luciano at first but later wasn’t scared because the sisters said they knew him. 2RP 226-27. The girls’ testimony agreed that one of them picked up a knife and wrapped it in a shirt to hide it, but each claimed it was another girl who did that. 1RP 93; 2RP 42, 123-24.

Dunn drove and the other white man sat in the passenger seat. 1RP 77-78; 2RP 36. Luciano sat in the back seat with the girls. 1RP 77-78. Dunn drove to a house about a half an hour away, where Luciano and the passenger got out. 1RP 79; 2RP 38, 125, 147, 212. While Dunn turned up the music and hummed, the girls – who had at least one cell phone with them – discussed calling the police. They spoke in Spanish so Dunn wouldn’t understand what they were talking about. 1RP 79-81; 2RP 39-40, 127. The girls decided not to call the police but instead to try to run away. 2RP 41-42.

M.C., for one, didn't fear Dunn. 2RP 226. She acknowledged the girls could have gotten out of the car at that house but decided not to leave because they weren't sure where they were.⁶ 2RP 212-13.

When Luciano returned from the house, he was carrying a plate of cucumbers and hot sauce. 1RP 85. He spilled some sauce on A.P.'s leg and then wiped it off with his finger, which he then licked. 1RP 86, 99; 2RP 44, 191-93. This bothered the girls, who told Luciano not to touch A.P. 1RP 86; 2RP 44.

Back on the road, Luciano asked if anyone was hungry, and A.P. said she was. 2RP 194. Dunn drove to a Burgerville drive-through near the Vancouver mall. 1RP 86-87; 2RP 46. The men ordered a lot of food. Accounts differed on whether the girls ate the food they were offered. 1RP 87-88; 2RP 46, 214-15.

Shortly thereafter, the girls told the men to stop at a pink house, which the girls lied was M.C.'s residence. 1RP 84. Luciano had been talking about wanting to meet M.C.'s mother and/or sister, but the girls did not want him to know where M.C. lived. 1RP 88; 2RP 47, 65-66, 101, 103, 196-97. After Luciano went to the door, apparently planning to offer M.C.'s family member some food, the girls got out of the car and ran

⁶ M.C. later provided arguably inconsistent testimony that the girls did not get out of the car because they were too scared. 2RP 232-33.

through a field. 1RP 84, 102; 2RP 49, 67. They hid in the bushes because they thought the car was following. 1RP 90, 105-06; 2RP 49-50. According to J.P., the car sped after them while Luciano remained at the house. 2RP 49, 100. M.C. did not see the car following them, but A.P. thought she saw it. 2RP 221.

Accounts of what happened next differ. A.P. said the girls avoided M.C.'s nearby house and ran to a nearby "Taboo" store, then called A.P.'s older sister Anahi. 1RP 91. J.P. said M.C. went inside and talked to her sister, but not her mother, and then the girls ran to Taboo. 2RP 50-52, 95. J.P. thought M.C. was deliberately avoiding her mother because she did not want to get in trouble. 2RP 51. M.C. said the girls went to Taboo first, then back to M.C.'s, then back to Taboo. 2RP 201-02.

Anahi had trouble locating the girls at first but eventually drove the girls back to the apartment, where Anita was waiting for them. 1RP 91; 2RP 53-54. J.P. was visibly frustrated with Anita for not responding promptly to her messages. 2RP 175, 228-29.

Anita testified she was at work when she started receiving phone calls from J.P. When she finally answered, J.P. said she couldn't "talk very much" and that men were taking J.P. and the other girls from the home. J.P. also sent text messages to that effect. 2RP 167, 169, 172. Rather than calling the police, Anita returned to the apartment. 2RP 175.

Anita did not give the men permission to drive A.P. and J.P. anywhere.⁷ 2RP 169. Anita acknowledged she met Luciano at a gym years earlier. She might have given him her phone number and some details about her family because he had helped her fix her dryer. 2RP 169-71.

The police contacted Dunn after the girls identified him, and he voluntarily met with police and provided a statement. 3RP 30. Portions of his statement were introduced at trial.⁸ Exs. 47, 50; 3RP 63. In the interview, Dunn explained he met Luciano only a few days before the incident leading to the charges. Ex. 50 at 10. Luciano owed a landscaping business and needed some automotive work done. Ex. 50 at 3. The morning of the incident, Dunn and an acquaintance, Rick, were working on Luciano's truck when Luciano asked Dunn to drive him on business errands because Luciano had been drinking and could not drive. Ex. 50 at 10-11. The men stopped at an arborist and some other apartments before eventually stopping at the girls' apartment, where Dunn was told that Luciano had previously installed a dryer. Ex. 13, 24.

⁷ Like Anita, M.C.'s mother testified she did not give permission for the men to drive M.C. anywhere. 2RP 154-59.

⁸ The court played those portions of the CD corresponding to the following portions of the transcript: (1) Beginning until page 28, line 17 and (2) page 31, lines 1 through 7. All other portions were excluded. 3RP 34-39, 63.

Luciano went into the apartment and then returned with the girls, whom he estimated to be in “[j]unior high [or] high school.” Ex. 14. Luciano and the girls invited him in. Ex. 50 at 14. Luciano appeared to know the girls; the girls at first wanted a ride to the mall, but one talked to her mother and needed to go home. Ex. 50 at 15. Luciano “volunteered” Dunn to take the girl home. Ex. 50 at 15.

Luciano had Dunn stop at the home of business associate along the way, but there was a barbecue going on, and Luciano returned with a plate of food. Ex. 50 at 17. After one of the girls said she was hungry, Luciano offered to buy lunch. Ex. 50 at 16. Dunn did not realize anything was amiss until the girls ran across a field rather than approaching the house where they told him to stop. Ex. 50 at 16, 19-22. Dunn found the situation odd and feared the girls were playing some sort of game. Ex. 50 at 22-23.

Afterward, Luciano didn’t offer Dunn any explanation for the morning’s events, other than to suggest he wanted a relationship with the girls’ mother. Ex. 50 at 25. Dunn didn’t understand much of the conversation between Luciano and the girls because it was conducted in Spanish. Ex. 50 at 26-28. Other than that, the girls were talking about boyfriends and other things Dunn was not interested in. Ex. 50 at 28.

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE INFORMATION IS DEFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO INCLUDE ALL THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF UNLAWFUL IMPRISONMENT.

A charging document is constitutionally defective if it fails to include all "essential elements" of the crime. State v. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d 782, 787, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995); U.S. Const. Amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. Dunn's conviction for unlawful imprisonment must be reversed because the charging document does not set forth the essential elements of the crime. CP 1-2, 5-6, 11-12.

To establish unlawful imprisonment, the State must prove the defendant "knowingly restrain[ed] another person." RCW 9A.40.040. "Restrain" means "to restrict a person's movements without consent and without legal authority in a manner which interferes substantially with his or her liberty. RCW 9A.40.010(6) (formerly codified as subsection (1)). To restrain a person "without consent" is accomplished by "physical force, intimidation, or deception" or "by any means including acquiescence" if the restrained person's parent has not consented. RCW 9A.40.010(6).

Thus, for purposes of unlawful imprisonment, "restraint" has four primary components: "(1) restricting another's movements; (2) without that person's consent; (3) without legal authority; and (4) in a manner that substantially interferes with that person's liberty." State v. Warfield, 103

Wn. App. 152, 157, 5 P.3d 1280 (2000). The adverb “knowingly” modifies all components of restraint. Id. at 153-54, 157. The modified components of “restraint” are thus elements of the crime of unlawful imprisonment. Id. at 158-59.

In Warfield, three defendants’ convictions were reversed for insufficient evidence where the State failed to prove Warfield and two other men knowingly restrained someone without lawful authority. This Court held “knowledge of the law is a statutory element of the crime of unlawful imprisonment, without proof of which, defendants’ convictions cannot stand.” Id. at 159.

The elements of a crime are commonly defined as “[t]he constituent parts of a crime – [usually] consisting of the actus reus, mens rea, and causation – that the prosecution must prove to sustain a conviction.” State v. Peterson, 168 Wn.2d 763, 772, 230 P.3d 588 (2010) (quoting State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 754, 202 P.3d 937 (2009)). “An ‘essential element is one whose specification is necessary to establish the very illegality of the behavior’ charged.” State v. Feeser, 138 Wn. App. 737, 743, 158 P.3d 616 (2007) (quoting State v. Johnson, 119 Wn.2d 143, 147, 829 P.2d 1078 (1992)).

To convict Dunn of unlawful imprisonment, the State needed to prove he knowingly accomplished each of the four elements. Warfield,

103 Wn. App. at 157-59; Feeser, 138 Wn. App. at 743. As Division One of this Court recently held, moreover, mere use of the term “restraint” in the charging document is inadequate to provide notice of each of the elements of the crime of unlawful imprisonment. See State v. Johnson, ___ Wn. App. ___, 289 P.3d 662, 674 (2012) (common understanding of “restraint” fails to convey statutory definition, and in particular, requirement of knowledge that such restraint occur “without legal authority”).

In accord with Warfield and Johnson, the pattern "to convict" instruction for unlawful imprisonment recognizes the elements of the crime that need to be proved. WPIC 39.16; see State v. Davis, 116 Wn. App. 81, 96 n.47, 64 P.3d 661 (2003) ("While the WPICs are not binding on the court, they are persuasive authority."), aff'd, 154 Wn.2d 291, 111 P.3d 844 (2005), aff'd sub nom., Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 126 S. Ct. 2266, 165 L. Ed. 2d 224 (2006).

The "to convict" instructions in Dunn's case were modeled on WPIC 39.16. CP 31-36 (Instructions 16-18).⁹ The jury was correctly instructed that "with regard to [the elements] the defendant acted knowingly." CP 31 (Instruction 16).

⁹ Instructions 16-18 are attached as Appendix A.

Proper jury instructions, however, cannot cure a defective charging document. Vangerpen, 125 Wn.2d at 788. The State charged Dunn with unlawful imprisonment as follows:

That [Dunn], in the County of Clark, State of Washington, on or about May 13, 2012 . . . did knowingly restrain [one of the three complainants], a human being; contrary to [RCW] 9A.40.040(1),¹⁰ and/or was an accomplice to the crime. . . .

CP 12 (second amended information, containing identical language to previous charging documents).

The information does not contain all essential elements of the crime. It does not allege Dunn knowingly: (1) restricted another's movements; (2) without that person's consent; (3) without legal authority; and (4) in a manner that substantially interferes with that person's liberty.

Where, as here, the adequacy of an information is challenged for the first time on appeal, the appellate court undertakes a two-pronged inquiry: "(1) do the necessary facts appear in any form, or by fair construction can they be found, in the charging document; and, if so, (2) can the defendant show that he or she was nonetheless actually prejudiced by the inartful language which caused a lack of notice?" State v. Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93, 105-06, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). If the necessary elements are neither found nor fairly implied in the charging document, the court

¹⁰ The citation is to the 1975 version of the statute.

presumes prejudice and reverses without further inquiry. State v. McCarty, 140 Wn.2d 420, 425, 998 P.2d 296 (2000).

The information did not fairly imply each of the four elements. At most, the language "knowingly restrain" as used in the information notifies the accused that an essential element of the crime is that a person knowingly restricted the movements of another.

The other three elements at issue here cannot be found by any fair construction. The information provides no notice that knowledge of lack of consent, knowledge of lack of legal authority to restrain, and knowledge of the degree of restriction (substantial interference) are all essential elements of the crime. "If the document cannot be construed to give notice of or to contain in some manner the essential elements of a crime, the most liberal reading cannot cure it." State v. Campbell, 125 Wn.2d 797, 802, 888 P.2d 1185 (1995). Because the necessary elements of unlawful imprisonment are neither found nor fairly implied by the charging document, this Court must presume prejudice and reverse Johnson's conviction. McCarty, 140 Wn.2d at 425.

2. THE JURY INSTRUCTION DEFINING KNOWLEDGE RELIEVED THE STATE OF THE BURDEN OF PROVING AN ELEMENT OF UNLAWFUL IMPRISONMENT, AS WELL AS AN ELEMENT OF RESIDENTIAL BURGLARY.

The State may use evidentiary devices, such as presumptions and inferences, to assist it in meeting its burden of proof. Mandatory presumptions, however, may violate due process if they relieve the State of its obligation to prove all of the elements of the crime charged. State v. Deal, 128 Wn2d 693, 911 P.2d 996 (1996) (citing Sandstrom v. Montana, 442 U.S. 510, 523-24, 99 S. Ct. 2450, 61 L. Ed. 2d 39 (1979)). A jury instruction that relieves the State of its burden of proof is reversible error. State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 656, 904 P.2d 245 (1995).

As discussed above, to find Dunn guilty of unlawful imprisonment, the State was required to prove he acted *knowingly* as to each element of the crime, including knowledge that his acts were unlawful. Warfield, 103 Wn. App. at 159.

But here, the jury was instructed that:

A person knows or acts knowingly or with knowledge with respect to a fact, circumstance, or result when he is aware of that fact, circumstance or result. It is not necessary that the person know that the fact, circumstance, or result is defined by law as being unlawful or an element of a crime.

If a person has information that would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe that a

fact exists, the jury is permitted but not required to find that he or she acted with knowledge of that fact.

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