NO. 43855-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

BRYAN VANCE DUNN, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY
CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.12-1-01071-4

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK
Prosecuting Attorney
Clark County, Washington

RACHAEL R. PROBSTFELD, WSBA #37878
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney
1013 Franklin Street
PO Box 5000
Vancouver WA 98666-5000
Telephone (360) 397-2261

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

In arguing the law, a prosecutor is confined to correctly characterizing the law stated in the court's instructions. *State v. Burton*, 165 Wn. App. 866, 885, 269 P.3d 337 (2012) (citing *State v. Estill*, 80 Wn.2d 196, 199-200, 492 P.2d 1037 (1972)). It can be misconduct for a prosecutor to misstate the court's instruction on the law, to tell a jury to acquit you must find the State's witnesses are lying, or that they must have a reason not to convict, or to equate proof beyond a reasonable doubt to everyday decision-making. *Id.* (citing to *State v. Davenport*, 100 Wn.2d 757, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984), *State v. Fleming*, 83 Wn. App. 209, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996), *State v. Anderson*, 153 Wn. App. 417, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009), and *State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008)). Contextual consideration of the prosecutor's statements is important. *Burton*, 165 Wn. App. at 885.

Improper argument does not require reversal unless the error was prejudicial to the defendant. *State v. Davenport*, 100 Wn.2d 757, 762, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984). The court in *Davenport* stated:

Only those errors [that] may have affected the outcome of the trial are prejudicial. Errors that deny a defendant a fair trial are per se prejudicial. To determine whether the trial was fair, the court should look to the trial irregularity and determine whether it may have influenced the jury. In doing so, the court should consider whether the irregularity could be cured by instructing the jury to disregard the remark. Therefore, in examining the entire record, the question to be resolved is whether there is a substantial likelihood that the prosecutor's misconduct affected the jury verdict, thereby denying the defendant a fair trial.

Davenport, 100 Wn.2d at 762-63.

In Dunn's case, any potential misstatement by the prosecutor did not affect the jury verdict. Dunn was not denied a fair trial. The closing argument must be taken in the entire context in which it was given. The prosecutor's closing argument makes up 35 pages of the transcript of the trial proceedings. Dunn focuses his argument of prosecutorial misconduct on one sentence of the prosecutor's argument. See Am. Br. of Appellant, p. 27. This sentence must be taken in the entire context of the surrounding comments and the entire argument. *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d at 747. The very next sentence of the prosecutor's argument is discussing the residential burglary charge. 4 RP at 40. The statement to which Dunn

assigns error, alone, does not rise to the level of prosecutorial misconduct. It does not misstate the law. Though the prosecutor's argument could be described by some as awkward or difficult to follow, his argument was not evidence that this was made clear to the jury. CP 14.

Dunn's argument that the prosecutor instructed the jury that all he had to prove was the Dunn intentionally drove the vehicle and is therefore guilty is a narrow characterization of the prosecutor's overall argument. It is clear, when the argument is taken as a whole and in context, that the prosecutor's remarks were not a misstatement of the law, but rather an attempt to explain to the jury what intentional means. Nothing suggests the challenged argument was flagrant or ill-intentioned. Moreover, the jury was properly instructed on the elements in the to-convict instructions, and the prosecutor referred the jury to that instruction. 4 RP at 55-56. A jury is presumed to follow the court's instruction. *State v. Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d 863, 885, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998) *cert. denied*, 525 U.S. 1157 (1999).

Even if there was prosecutorial misconduct for improper argument, a case will not be reversed because of an improper argument of law "unless such error is prejudicial to the accused and only those errors which may have affected the outcome of the trial are prejudicial." *Davenport*, 100 Wn.2d at 762 (citing *State v. Estill*, 80 Wn.2d 196, 200, 492 P.2d

1037 (1972) and *State v. Gilcrist*, 91 Wn.2d 603, 612, 590 P.2d 809 (1979)). This court should inquire as to whether the improper argument influenced the jury and whether it could have been cured by instructing the jury to disregard the remark. *Id.* at 762 (citing *State v. Weber*, 99 Wn.2d 158, 165, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983)). If there is a substantial likelihood that the prosecutor's misconduct affected the jury verdict, the defendant was denied a fair trial. *State v. Wheeler*, 95 Wn.2d 799, 807, 631 P.2d 376 (1981). But if a curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury, then the case should not be reversed. *See State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-61, 278 P.3d 653 (2011) (quoting *State v. Thorgerson*, 172 Wn.2d 438, 455, 258 P.3d 43 (2011)). Dunn did not object and did not request a curative instruction. This goes far in showing the context of the prosecutor's argument was not improper and was not flagrant or ill-intentioned. Further, any misstatement was minor and fleeting, one sentence in 35 pages of argument. Surely a curative instruction would have cured any improper argument made.

The instructions given to the jury were proper. The court must presume, absent any contrary showing, that the jury followed the court's instruction. *State v. Cerny*, 78 Wn.2d 845, 480 P.2d 199 (1971), *vacated*, 408 U.S. 939 (1972). There is no evidence, as there was in *Davenport*, *supra*, that the jury was misled by the prosecutor's argument. The

evidence of the defendant's guilt was overwhelming, and he was properly convicted after a fair trial. Dunn's claim of prosecutor misconduct should be denied.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING EVIDENCE OF A CELL PHONE VIDEO

Dunn alleges error for the trial court's failure to admit video evidence at trial. A trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 648, 904 P.2d 245 (1995), *cert. denied*, 518 U.S. 1026, 135 L. Ed. 2d 1084, 116 S. Ct. 2568 (1996). A trial court abuses its discretion only when it bases its decision on untenable grounds or reasons. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), *cert. denied*, 523 U.S. 1008, 140 L. Ed. 2d 323, 118 S. Ct. 1193 (1998). A defendant does not have a right to have irrelevant evidence admitted. *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15, 659 P.2d 514 (1983).

The trial court in Dunn refused to allow admission of the cell phone video because it was likely to result in confusion of the jury. 2 RP at 82. Evidence Rule (ER) 403 dictates that jury confusion is a permissible reason for excluding evidence. The trial court is the court in the best position to determine, in the context of the entire trial, whether the video evidence Dunn wished to introduce would lead to confusion of the jury.

As the court noted, the video was confusing, unclear and it was difficult to understand what was happening on the video. The judge likened it to a very, very blurry photograph. 2 RP at 83.

Even if the video had been admitted, it would not have affected the outcome of the case. Some errors are so insignificant as to be harmless. *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). In reviewing the evidence presented at trial, there was overwhelming, untainted evidence of Dunn's guilt. Dunn suggests the video would have shown the jury the casual nature of the victims' demeanors. Neither fear nor physical restraint are elements of the crime of Unlawful Imprisonment. All three victims were under the age of 16, and as such, as the prosecutor argued, acquiescence without parental consent was sufficient to constitute the crime. 4 RP at 55. All three victims testified that based on statements made at the house they feared the three men, and that is why they got in the vehicle with the men. The mothers of the victims testified they did not know the men involved, including the defendant, and that they did not give them permission to take their children. This evidence overwhelmingly established Dunn's guilt. Whether the victims had a casual demeanor would not have made his acts any less criminal. The overwhelming amount of evidence and its credibility would lead to the same result whether the video evidence had been admitted or not. As such,

this error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and Dunn's convictions should be affirmed. *See State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d at 426.

V. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE DUNN'S RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL

Dunn alleges that the performance of the preemptory challenges on paper, rather than spoken out loud, violated his right to a public trial. Many things are filed with the court by paper document, as opposed to being spoken out loud in open court. Simply because the prosecutor and defense attorney did not say out loud who they struck from the jury did not render this proceeding private or deny the public access.

Article I, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution, and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provide a criminal defendant with a right to a public trial. Article I, section 10 of the Washington State Constitution provides that "justice in all cases shall be administered openly." This grants both the defendant and the public an interest in open, accessible proceedings. *Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa*, 97 Wn.2d 30, 36, 640 P.2d 716 (1982).

The first part of an open courts violation analysis is to consider whether there was even a closure. *State v. Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d 58, 71, 292 p.3d 715 (2012). A closure occurs "when the courtroom is completely and purposefully closed to spectators so that no one may enter and no one may

leave.” *State v. Lormor*, 172 Wn.2d 85, 93, 257 P.3d 624 (2011). Not every interaction between the court, counsel and defendant will implicate the right to public trial or constitute a closure if the courtroom is closed to the public. *Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d at 71. The resolution of whether the public trial right attaches to a particular proceeding cannot be resolved based on the label given to the proceeding. *Id.* at 73 (citing to *Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court*, 478 U.S. 1, 8-10, 106 S. Ct. 2735, 92 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1986) (*Press II*)). If the proceeding does not fall within a specific category of trial proceedings that the Supreme Court has already established implicated the public trial right, the next question is whether or not the proceeding satisfies the newly established “experience and logic” test. *State v. Wilson*, ___ Wn. App. ___, 298 P.3d 148, 152 (2013). In *Sublett, supra*, the Washington Supreme Court adopted the experience and logic test to determine whether the core values of the public trial right are implicated. *Id.* at 73. This test requires the court to ask “whether the place and process have historically been open to the press and general public.” and “whether public access plays a significant positive role in the functioning of the particular process in question.” *Id.* (citing to *Press II, supra* at 8). If the answer to both questions is yes, the public trial right attaches. *Id.* The Court in *State v. Wilson*, applied this “experience and

logic test” to the excusal of jurors prior to the start of voir dire. *Wilson*, 298 P.3d at 152.

The first question is whether the proceeding squarely falls within a specific category of proceeding that implicates the public trial right. Existing case law does not hold that a defendant’s public trial right applies to every component of the broad “jury selection” process. *Wilson*, 298 P.3d at 153. The existing case law addresses application of the public trial right only to the “voir dire” of prospective jurors. *Id.* As noted in *Wilson*, established case law has not characterized the entire jury selection process as “courtroom closures,” and no case has held that administrative components of the jury selection process implicate the public trial right. *Id.* at 154. The Court in *Wilson*, *supra* held that the preliminary excusal of ill jurors by the bailiff prior to the commencement of voir dire does not implicate the public trial right. *Id.* at 158. As in *Wilson*, the issue here is administrative. The entire venire panel was questioned in open court. No part of voir dire was handled in chambers or off the record. The preemptory challenges were made in writing by the prosecutor and the defense attorney. This is administrative and does not implicate the public trial right.

As this part of jury selection has not been addressed, the court should apply the “experience and logic” test. The experience and logic test

allows the determining court to consider the actual proceeding at issue for what it is. *Sublett, supra* at 73. First, the State contends the entire voir dire process, including preemptory challenges was done in open court. The document that the prosecutor and defense attorney used to note their challenges was filed in the court file and thus is a public document accessible to the public. See Appendix A (Supp. CP). Second, the experience prong of this test would show it is extremely common to hold preemptory challenges in such a fashion. All challenges for cause are put on the record, out loud, but preemptory challenges are often done in the same way they were done in Dunn's case. The second part of the test, the logic prong, also shows this process was not violative of the defendant's or the public's rights. Would openness "enhance[] both the basic fairness of the criminal trial and the appearance of fairness so essential to public confidence in the system?" *Press-Enter. Co. v. Superior Court*, 464 U.S. 501, 508, 104 S. Ct. 819, 78 L. Ed. 2d 629 (1984) (*Press I*). In this situation speaking the strikes out loud would serve no necessary purpose.

In *Sublett, supra*, the Supreme Court found that answering a jury question in chambers was not a closure under the experience and logic test. *Sublett, supra* at 75. The situation to which Dunn assigns error is similar to that in *Sublett, supra*. In *Sublett*, the jury question was filed in the public file and accessible to the public. *Id.* at 77. Here, the document

filled out by the prosecutor and defense making their preemptory challenges is filed in public file. See Appendix A (Supp. CP). The public has full access to the decisions and preemptories that each side made during this process. It is clear from the record in Dunn that the judge asked for any for cause challenges on the record and out loud. The performance of the preemptory challenges afterwards are not necessary to be done out loud. Just as many motions are filed in court and not read verbatim into the record, so are jury preemptories handled. Dunn's right to a public trial was not violated, and the public's right to a public trial was not violated. None of the values served by the public trial right are violated under the facts of this case. No witnesses were involved at this stage, no testimony was involved, no risk of perjury exists. The appearance of fairness was satisfied by having the preemptories placed on the record by filing in the court file. The jury preemptory challenges portion of voir dire is not a proceeding so similar to the trial itself that the same rights attach. Dunn has not established that a closure or public trial right violation occurred.

VI. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE DUNN'S RIGHT TO BE PRESENT

Dunn argues his right to be present at a critical stage of trial was violated when preemptory challenges to the jury pool were conducted on a sheet of paper at clerk's station. Dunn was present during jury selection

and was able to confer with his attorney if he desired. Dunn's right to be present was not violated.

Dunn likens the situation in his case to that of *State v. Irby*, 170 Wn.2d 874, 246 P.3d 796 (2011). In *Irby*, the trial court dismissed several jurors based on answers to their juror questionnaires, but did the dismissal with agreement from the prosecutor and defense attorney over email without opportunity for defense to consult with the defendant. *Irby*, 170 Wn.2d at 878. These facts are starkly different from the facts of Dunn's case. The preemptory challenges were done in the courtroom while Dunn was present. Though Dunn's attorney went to the clerk's station while Dunn remained at counsel table, his attorney had the ability to walk back and forth between the clerk's station and the counsel table. Dunn and his attorney had the opportunity, if they wished, to consult prior to, during and after the preemptory challenges were made. This is significantly different from the occurrence in *Irby, supra*, which happened without any ability or opportunity for defense to consult with the defendant.

Also, unlike *Irby, supra*, it is provable that any potential violation of Dunn's right to be present was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The only possible prejudice to Dunn was the ability to object to a preemptory challenge by the State on the basis of *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986). Dunn has had access

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